## IN THE SUPREME COURT FOR THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

**DEBRA L. WINTERS** 

APPELLANT brief

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00476

CALHOUN COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT and CALHOUN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION

**APPELLEES** 

# **CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS**

The undersigned counsel of record hereby certifies that the following listed persons have an interest in the outcome of this case. These representations are made in order that the Justices of the Supreme Court and/or the Judges of the Court of Appeals may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

Chancellor:

The Honorable Edwin H. Roberts, Jr.

Appellant:

Debra L. Winters

Grenada, Mississippi

Appellees:

Calhoun County School District

#### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

ISSUE #1:

DID THE CHANCELLOR ABUSE HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE FOUND THAT MRS. WINTERS HAD NOT BEEN DEMOTED AND, THEREFORE, THAT A NON-RENEWAL OF HER CONTRACT HAD NOT OCCURRED PURSUANT TO THE EDUCATION EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES LAW OF 2001 (MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 37-9-101, ET. SEQ.) ("EEPL"), EVEN THOUGH THE ALLEGATIONS SET FORTH IN MRS. WINTERS' PETITION WOULD PROVE OTHERWISE, AND THE CHANCELLOR WAS OBLIGED TO TAKE THOSE ALLEGATIONS AS TRUE?

ISSUE #2:

DID THE CHANCELLOR ABUSE HIS DISCRETION WHEN HE FOUND THAT MRS. WINTERS HAD WAIVED HER RIGHT TO AN APPEAL PURSUANT TO THE EDUCATION EMPLOYMENT PROCEDURES LAW OF 2001 (MISS. CODE ANN. §§ 37-9-101, ET. SEQ.) ("EEPL"), EVEN THOUGH (A) THE SCHOOL DISTRICT'S GRIEVANCE POLICY WAS CONSISTENT WITH, AND RAN APPURTENANT TO, THE EEPL; (B) MRS. WINTERS WAS AFFORDED THE SAME DUE PROCESS HEARING BEFORE THE SCHOOL BOARD UNDER THE GRIEVANCE POLICY THAT SHE OTHERWISE WOULD HAVE BEEN AFFORDED HAD SHE EXPRESSLY INVOKED THE PROVISIONS OF THE EEPL IN HER NOTICE; AND (C) IT WOULD HAVE BEEN A USELESS ACT FOR MRS. WINTERS TO REQUEST AN EEPL HEARING BEFORE THE SCHOOL BOARD AFTER THE SCHOOL BOARD HAD ALREADY DENIED HER PETITION DURING THE LEVEL III HEARING?

ISSUE #3:

DID THE CHANCELLOR ABUSE HIS DISCRETION BY NOT TREATING THE MISS. R. CIV. P. 12 (B) (6) MOTION TO DISMISS AS A MISS. R. CIV. P. 56 MOTION FOR SUMMARY JUDGMENT SINCE (A) THE MOTION TO DISMISS REFERENCES MATTERS OUTSIDE OF THE PETITION; (B) THE SCHOOL DISTRICT & SCHOOL BOARD'S REBUTTAL REFERENCES FACTS NOT IN THE PETITION; (C) THE CHANCELLOR HAD THE OBLIGATION TO GIVE MRS. WINTERS THE BENEFIT OF THE DOUBT AS TO THE EXISTENCE OF A MATERIAL FACT; AND (D) THE PLEADINGS DEMONSTRATE GENUINE ISSUES OF MATERIAL FACT?

#### STATEMENT OF THE CASE

# I. Procedural History

This case was commenced by the filing of a Notice of Appeal (hereinafter "Notice") and Petition for Appeal from the Calhoun County Board of Education, Request for Temporary Restraining Order, Preliminary Injunction, Damages and Other Relief (hereinafter "Petition") by Debra L. Winters in the Chancery Court of Calhoun County. The Petition alleges that Mrs. Winters, a teacher at Calhoun City High School, had been demoted in violation of the Education Employment Procedures Law of 2001 (Miss. Code Ann. §§ 37-9-101, et. seq.)¹ (hereinafter the "EEPL") when the Superintendent of Education transferred her from the High School to the Calhoun County Alternative School (hereinafter the "Alternative School"). The Petition also alleges violations of federal law.

Prior to filing her Notice and Petition, Mrs. Winters complied with the "Staff Complaints and Grievance Policy" (hereinafter the "Grievance Policy") that was established by the Calhoun County Board of Education (hereinafter the "School Board"). Pursuant thereto, Mrs. Winters had a Level I Grievance Hearing before Principal Dale Hays. After Principal Hays denied her petition, Mrs. Winters had a Level II Grievance Hearing before Superintendent Beth Hardin. When Superintendent Hardin denied her petition, Mrs. Winters had a Level III Grievance Hearing before the School Board. When the School Board chose to take no action, Mrs. Winters filed her Notice and Petition with the Chancery Court of Calhoun County.

The Appellees (hereinafter the "School District & School Board") removed this matter to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi. After the federal court assumed jurisdiction, Mrs. Winters moved the court to compel transcription of the record of the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The EEPL used to be referred to as the School Employment Procedures Law, or "SEPL".

Level III Grievance Hearing. The court never ruled on this motion because the matter was remanded, by way of <u>Agreed Order</u>, to the Chancery Court of Calhoun County.

Following remand, the School District & School Board moved the Chancery Court to dismiss the appeal pursuant to Miss. R. Civ. P. 12 (b) (6). Briefs were submitted to the lower court. An oral hearing was conducted on February 28, 2007. The Chancery Court sustained the School District & School Board's Motion to Dismiss on March 1, 2007.

Feeling aggrieved by the decision of the Chancery Court in this case, Debra L. Winters has perfected her appeal and now presents this case to be reviewed by this Honorable Court.

## II. Statement of the Facts

Mrs. Winters was a biology teacher for the Calhoun County School District (hereinafter "School District") from August 1997 to July 2006. (R.E. at 9; C.P. at 8.) As of the 2005-2006 school year, Mrs. Winters was certified by the Mississippi Department of Education to teach biology, but she was not certified to teach chemistry or special education. (R.E. at 9; C.P. at 8.) In addition, Mrs. Winters had limited experience teaching students with behavioral problems. (R.E. at 9; C.P. at 8.) In fact, Principal Hays had placed Mrs. Winters on a plan of improvement, which cited that her major problem was controlling the classroom. (R.E. at 38; T. at 26.)

On January 23, 2006, Mrs. Winters received a School District letter of intent for employment during the 2006-2007 school year (hereinafter "the Letter of Intent"). (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.) Mrs. Winters initialed and checked Section I, § 1 of the Letter of Intent, indicating her intention to remain in her position as a science teacher at Calhoun City High School and Junior High School during the 2006-2007 school year. (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.) Outside of Mrs. Winters' presence, Mr. Hays initialed Section II, § 1 of the Letter of Intent, signed the document,

and added the phrase "Recommending Alternative School Transfer Chemistry Certification." (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.)

In late February 2006, Mrs. Winters received a copy of the Letter of Intent signed by Mr. Hays. (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.) Mrs. Winters attempted to contact Mr. Hays about the additional language concerning the recommended transfer; however, Mr. Hays was unavailable. (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.) In the meantime, Mrs. Winters contacted Superintendent Beth Hardin, who informed her that a transfer to the Alternative School was not imminent since there were no openings for teachers at the Alternative School. (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.)

On April 19, 2006, Mr. Hays called Mrs. Winters into his office to meet with Alternative School Principal Hilda Hemphill. (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.) Mr. Hays stated that the purpose of the meeting was for Mrs. Hemphill and Mrs. Winters to "get on the same page" so that Mrs. Winters' transfer to the Alternative School would be smooth. (R.E. at 10; C.P. at 9.) Mrs. Winters promptly informed Mr. Hays that she had no reason to discuss her transfer to the Alternative School because she had never agreed to work there. (R.E. at 10-11; C.P. at 9-10.) The next day, April 20, 2006, Mr. Hays instructed Mrs. Winters that the decision to transfer her to the Alternative School had been finalized pursuant to the authority of Mrs. Hardin, and that Mrs. Winters was going to teach at the Alternative School the next year. (R.E. at 11; C.P. at 10.)

At no time prior to April 15, 2006, did Mrs. Winters receive written notice from Mrs. Hardin, as required by the EEPL, expressly stating that Mrs. Winters would be transferred to the Alternative School for the 2006-2007 school year. (R.E. at 11; C.P. at 10.)

On May 1, 2006, Mrs. Winters requested a Level I Grievance Hearing with Mr. Hays pursuant to the Grievance Policy. (R.E. at 11; C.P. at 10.) On May 9, 2006, the Level I hearing was conducted. (R.E. at 11; C.P. at 10.) Immediately after the hearing, without offering any

reason for his decision, Mr. Hays denied Mrs. Winters' request for a renewal of her contract to teach science at Calhoun City High School and Junior High School. (R.E. at 11; C.P. at 10.)

On May 22, 2006, Mrs. Winters requested a Level II Grievance Hearing with Mrs. Hardin. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.) On June 12, 2006, the Level II hearing was conducted before Mrs. Hardin. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.) On June 14, 2006, without offering any reason for her decision, Mrs. Hardin denied Mrs. Winters' request for a renewal of her contract to teach science at Calhoun City High School and Junior High School. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.)

On June 26, 2006, Mrs. Winters requested a Level III Grievance Hearing with the School Board. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.) Letters discussing the appropriate time periods under the EEPL were exchanged. (R.E. 43-44; T at 31-32.) More than one month later, on July 31, 2006, the Level III hearing was conducted before the School Board. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.) At the Level III hearing, neither the School District, nor the superintendent, nor the principal presented evidence to support their contention that Mrs. Winters should be transferred to the Alternative School. No one offered (1) any evidence that such decision to transfer was based on any articulated facts, factors or objective criteria; or (2) any reason to contradict the evidence offered by Mrs. Winters that such decision was unlawful. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.)

Upon information and belief, after Mrs. Winters, by and through counsel, had presented her case at the Level III hearing, the School Board went into Executive Session with Mrs. Hardin and Mr. Hays being present during the deliberations, but without Mrs. Winters or her counsel being afforded the opportunity to cross-examine and/or to observe the Board's discussion and examination of those present. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.) Following the conclusion of the Executive Session, the School Board issued no ruling and subsequently took no action on the evidence presented. (R.E. at 12; C.P. at 11.)

The School Board failed to vote on Mrs. Winters request for renewal of her contract for the 2006-2007 school year as a science teacher for Calhoun City High School and Junior High School, failed to offer findings of fact and conclusions of law as a basis for their decision, and failed to offer any basis or explanation whatsoever, absent the letter from the superintendent stating that the Board "took no action." (R.E. at 13; C.P. at 12.) Moreover, the School Board failed to provide a reporter to transcribe the record of the Level III Grievance Hearing. (R.E. at 13; C.P. at 12.)

On August 29, 2006, Mrs. Winters filed her <u>Petition</u> with the Chancery Court of Calhoun County. (R.E. at 1; C.P. at 2.) Therein, Mrs. Winters alleges that she had been demoted in violation of the EEPL (*Miss. Code Ann.* §§ 37-9-101, et. seq.). (R.E. at 13; C.P. at 12.) The <u>Petition</u> also alleges violations of federal law. (R.E. at 13; C.P. at 12.)

On September 6, 2006, the School District & School Board removed this matter to the United States District Court for the Northern District of Mississippi. (C.P. at 16-21.) After the federal court assumed jurisdiction, Mrs. Winters moved the court to compel transcription of the record of the Level III Grievance Hearing. (R.E. at 14-16; C.P. at 222-24.) The court never ruled on this motion because the matter was remanded, by way of <u>Agreed Order</u>, to the Chancery Court of Calhoun County. (R.E. at 16-17; C.P. at 63-64.)

Following remand, the School District & School Board on December 21, 2006 moved the Chancery Court to dismiss the appeal pursuant to *Miss. R. Civ. P. 12 (b) (6)*, asserting that Mrs. Winters had chosen to follow the Grievance Policy set forth by the School Board, and not the procedures set forth by the EEPL. (C.P. at 70-75.) The School District & School Board also asserted that Mrs. Winters' transfer to the Alternative School was not a demotion. (C.P. at 70-75.) The School District & School Board also incorporate as exhibits to their Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's Notice of Appeal and Petition for Appeal (hereinafter the "Motion to Dismiss"): (1)

Mrs. Winters' 2005-2006 employment contract; (2) an unsigned contract purporting to be the one that the District had offered her; and (3) a copy of the <u>Petition</u>. (R.E. at 19-22; C.P. at 70-78.)

In response, Mrs. Winters argued in her Reply Brief to School District & School Board's Motion to Dismiss (hereinafter the "Reply Brief"), which was filed on February 8, 2007, that the transfer was a demotion because the District was asking her to teach multiple subjects, including some of which she was not certified to teach, to students with behavior problems so severe that they had to be segregated from the rest of the school population. (C.P. at 94-95.) Furthermore, Mrs. Winters contended that she had a duty to comply with School Board policy, and that it would have been a "useless act" for her to request another hearing before the School Board, especially since the School Board had already heard live testimony from all the key witnesses and had been provided with all available relevant evidence during the Level III Grievance Hearing. (C.P. at 95-98.)

The School District & School Board filed their Rebuttal in Support of Motion to Dismiss Petitioner's Notice of Appeal and Petition for Appeal (hereinafter "Rebuttal") on February 15, 2007. (R.E. at 29; C.P. at 104-10.) Therein, the School District & School Board assert that Mrs. Winters did not lack "substantial experience" to teach children at the Alternative School. (R.E. at 29; C.P. at 104-10.)

On February 28, 2007, a hearing was held on the School District & School Board's Motion to Dismiss, at which time counsel for both sides presented oral arguments. (C.P. at 89-90.) On March 1, 2007, the Chancery Court granted the School District & School Board's Motion to Dismiss. (R.E. at 4-5; C.P. at 205-06.)

Feeling aggrieved by the decision of the Chancery Court in this case, Debra L. Winters has perfected her appeal and now asks this Honorable Court to review the decisions rendered in this case. (R.E. at 4-5; C.P. at 205-06.)

#### SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The esteemed Chancellor erred when he ruled that Mrs. Winters' reassignment to the Alternative School was not a non-renewal.

Under Mississippi law, a teaching contract is considered "non-renewed" if, among other reasons, the teacher is demoted. A demotion includes any reassignment under which the staff member is asked to teach a subject or grade other than one for which he is certified or for which he has had substantial experience within a reasonably current period. Thus, if it was reasonably possible for Mrs. Winters to prove that she had been asked to teach outside of her certification and/or her recent level of experience, then the esteemed Chancellor erred by sustaining the Motion to Dismiss, particularly with regard to the issue of her demotion.

When considering the School District & School Board's <u>Motion to Dismiss</u>, this Honorable court must assume that the allegations in the <u>Petition</u> are true. In her <u>Petition</u>, Mrs. Winters alleges that: (1) she had limited experience teaching students with learning disabilities or behavioral problems; and that (2) she was reassigned to the Alternative School.

The Legislature has determined that only students having <u>severe</u> behavioral problems shall be transferred to the Alternative School. Taking Mrs. Winters at her word, as an appeals court is obliged to do when reviewing a motion to dismiss, this Honorable Court should find that Mrs. Winters had limited experience teaching students with behavioral problems. Thus, Mrs. Winters lacked substantial experience within a reasonably current period to teach at the Alternative School—a school comprised of students having severe behavioral problems. As such, Mrs. Winters' contract was not renewed, triggering the application of the EEPL.

The esteemed Chancellor also erred when he found that Mrs. Winters had waived her right to an appeal under the EEPL.

Under Mississippi law, a school board may prescribe and enforce rules and regulations not inconsistent with law or with the regulations of the State Board of Education for their own government and for the government of the schools. Mrs. Winters operates under the assumption that the Grievance Policy is consistent with the EEPL.

The School Board & School District contend that Mrs. Winters waived her right to appeal under the EEPL. According to counsel opposite, Mrs. Winters had a choice: Either she could have followed the Grievance Policy, or she could have followed the EEPL, but she could not have done both.

Under the EEPL, the School Board is required to conduct a hearing on the non-renewal of a teacher's contract. Likewise, under the Grievance Policy, the School Board is required to conduct a hearing on a complaint by an individual based upon an alleged violation of a person's rights under state law, federal law or Board policy. Since an unlawful non-renewal would violate a person's rights under the EEPL, then, *ipso facto*, a Level III hearing on an alleged demotion of a school employee would be tantamount to an EEPL hearing (and vice versa).

In the case *sub judice*, Mrs. Winters gave proper notice to the School Board of her desire to have a Level III hearing. The hearing covered all the subjects that would have been addressed in an EEPL hearing and was done in compliance with the EEPL. Therefore, the Level III hearing was, as a matter of law, an EEPL hearing.

For this Honorable Court to conclude otherwise would imply that a board of education may enact rules or regulations that are inconsistent with state law. The only way that the School Board's Grievance Policy could relate to an issue of non-renewal would be if the procedures set forth therein were understood to complement—and not compete with—the EEPL.

Mrs. Winters contends that the Grievance Policy complements the EEPL by creating preliminary levels of evaluation prior to the Level III/EEPL hearing. Nevertheless, if we

assume, arguendo, that the Level III hearing and the EEPL hearing are separate animals, then the only consistent way to reconcile the two would be to require an aggrieved person to appeal the School Board's Level III finding to the School Board, yet again, but this time under the auspices of the EEPL. Of course, this would be absurd. If Mrs. Winters had demanded another hearing before the School Board, she could have hardly expected a different outcome, especially since the School Board had already heard testimony from the key witnesses, and since all evidence offered would have been identical.

In effect, the School District & School Board contend that Mrs. Winters did not afford them proper notice of her request for an EEPL hearing since she did not expressly invoke the language of the statute in her request for a Level III hearing. Even though the School Board received actual notice of her grievance and actually conducted a live hearing on the merits thereof, the School Board now claims that it did not have proper written notice pursuant to the EEPL. This argument fails as a matter of law.

Upon weighing the relevant factors, the esteemed Chancellor should have concluded that Mrs. Winters did, in fact, have her EEPL hearing. Since Mrs. Winters did have her EEPL hearing, the esteemed Chancellor erred by holding that she had waived her rights to an appeal under the EEPL.

Mrs. Winters argues in the alternative that the <u>Motion to Dismiss</u> should have been evaluated as a motion for summary judgment since the <u>Motion to Dismiss</u> and its corresponding Rebuttal offer material outside of the pleadings.

A genuine issue of material fact is in dispute with regard to the issue of demotion, thus making summary judgment inappropriate. As such, this Honorable Court should reverse the esteemed Chancellor's finding that there was no demotion, and subsequently no non-renewal of Mrs. Winters' 2005-2006 contract.

Further, Mrs. Winters contends that, as a matter of law, the esteemed Chancellor could not have granted summary judgment to the School District & School Board on the issue of her alleged waiver.

Since a genuine issue of material fact exists with respect to the issue of Mrs. Winters' demotion, and since the School District & School Board's contention that Mrs. Winters waived her rights under the EEPL fails as a matter of law, this Honorable Court should reverse the lower court's order sustaining the Motion to Dismiss.

Accordingly, Mrs. Winters respectfully petitions this Honorable Court to set aside the esteemed Chancellor's order granting the <u>Motion to Dismiss</u>.

#### **ARGUMENT**

#### I. Standard of Review

The standard of review for this Honorable Court depends upon whether the School District & School Board's Motion to Dismiss should have been treated by the lower court as a motion to dismiss for failure to state a claim (Miss. R. Civ. P. 12 (b) (6)) or as a motion for summary judgment (Miss. R. Civ. P. 56).

### A. Standard of Review Under Miss. R. Civ. P. 12 (b) (6)

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