IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

DEBRA L. WINTERS

APPELLANT

VS.

CAUSE NO. 2007-CA-00476

CALHOUN COUNTY SCHOOL DISTRICT and CALHOUN COUNTY BOARD OF EDUCATION

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CHANCERY COURT OF CALHOUN COUNTY, MISSISSIPPI

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

James A. Keith
Mississippi State Bar No.

R. Jarrad Garner
Mississippi State Bar No.

Laura A. Ford
Mississippi State Bar No.

Adams and Reese LLP
111 East Capitol Street, Suite 350 (39201)
Post Office Box 24297

Jackson, Mississippi 39225-4297

Telephone: 601-353-3234 Facsimile: 601-355-9708

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PARTIES

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The chancery court was correct in dismissing Appellant's claims. The chancery court correctly held that Appellant's contract was not non-renewed and therefore the provisions of the Education Employment Procedures Law ("EEPL") were not invoked. Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-101 et seq. Appellant never characterized her reassignment as a "demotion" or attempted to invoke the provisions of the EEPL until she attempted to appeal the District's decision to the chancery court, some four (4) months after the reassignment had taken place. (See R. 227-228; RE 109-110). There is little doubt that the EEPL was established to provide a mechanism for educators to challenge a District's decision to non-renew their contracts. In this case, however, there has been no non-renewal to trigger the application of the statute. A reassignment may be considered a demotion where (1) the teacher receives less pay or has less responsibility in the new position, (2) the new position requires a lesser skill than the old position, or (3) the new position requires the teacher to teach outside her certification or experience level. Appellant's argument focuses on the third factor. However, Appellant's teaching certification, license, and

experience level meet every requirement for teaching at the alternative school. Therefore, her argument fails as a matter of fact and as a matter of law.

The chancery court correctly held that in the alternative, even if Appellant's reassignment constitutes a non-renewal for purposes of the EEPL, she has waived any rights to pursue an appeal before the courts of this state under those statutes. Appellant had actual, and at the very least constructive, knowledge of her due process rights under the EEPL. The District's Employee Handbook and corresponding policies clearly enumerated the rights and procedures available to Appellant. Nonetheless, she voluntarily, and with the advice of counsel, chose to initiate the procedures established by the District's internal grievance policy and, more importantly, she chose not to challenge her transfer as a non-renewal pursuant to the EEPL and corresponding Board Policy GBN-R. The EEPL and the internal grievance policies are entirely separate and distinct in substance and procedure. Appellant chose to pursue the grievance policy and procedures, which do not permit an appeal to state courts, to the exclusion of the procedures set out under the EEPL and Board Policy GBN-R, and she has therefore waived any rights that could have been asserted under the provisions of the EEPL. Appellant should not be permitted to now retrospectively assert a claim under the EEPL and proceed under those statutory requirements and privileges.

ARGUMENT

I. The Chancery Court was correct in determining that Appellant's teaching contract was not non-renewed.

Under any standard employed by this Court, the chancery court correctly determined that Appellant's contract was never non-renewed by the District so as to invoke the provisions of the

Education Employment Procedures Law ("EEPL").³ Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-101 makes non-renewal a pre-requisite for application of the EEPL:

It is the intent of the Legislature to establish procedures to provide for accountability in the teaching profession; to provide a mechanism for the **nonrenewal** of licensed education employees in a timely, cost-efficient and fair manner; to provide public school employees with notice of the reasons for not offering an employee a renewal of his contract; to provide an opportunity for the employee to present matters in extenuation or exculpation; to provide the employee with an opportunity for a hearing to enable the board to determine whether the recommendation of nonemployment is a proper employment decision and not contrary to law and to require **nonrenewal** decisions to be based upon valid educational reasons or noncompliance with school district personnel policies. It is the intent of the Legislatures not to establish a system of tenure.

Miss. Code Ann. § 37-9-101 (emphasis added).

The District agrees with Appellant's claim that a demotion may be considered a non-renewal decision that can trigger the provisions of the EEPL. The District also concurs with Appellant's recitation of Mississippi law regarding the definition of a "demotion" for purposes of the EEPL. According to *Board of Education for Holmes County Schools v. Fisher*, 874 So. 2d 1019 (Miss. App. 2004), reassignment may be considered demotion where (1) the teacher receives less pay or has less responsibility in the new position, (2) the new position requires a lesser skill than the old position, or (3) the new position requires the teacher to teach outside her certification or experience level. *Fisher*, 874 So. 2d at 1022 (*quoting Montgomery v. Starkville Mun. Sep. Sch. Dist.*, 665 F.Supp. 487, 492 (N.D. Miss. 1987)). Appellant's transfer was not a demotion. Appellant has not disputed the fact that she was going to be paid more under the new contract to teach at the alternative school than she had been paid to teach at the junior high and high schools. (*See* R. 073, 105; RE 23, 53). In addition, the alternative program position as a

504799-1

³ Relevant provisions of the EEPL are contained in Apellees' Record Excerpts, submitted with this brief.

science teacher clearly would not have required a lesser responsibility or a lesser degree of skill than her 2005-2006 position as a science teacher. At the alternative school she would have continued to teach science and would have additionally supervised a teacher's aide or teacher's assistant. She also would have been responsible for students of a wider age range. (See R. 105; RE 53). The courses at the alternative school are not "remedial," and she would have been teaching the same materials at the same academic level as she did at the high school and junior high. (See R. 071; RE 21). The only difference was the particular school setting where she was to teach. Appellant produced absolutely no evidence to the chancery court in briefs or other documentary evidence, or through argument of counsel, disputing these facts.

The only argument Appellant has asserted to support her claim that the reassignment should be considered a demotion is based on the third element defined in *Fisher*. 874 So. 2d at 1022. She argues that the position at the alternative school would place her outside her certification or experience level. However, her assertions are simply untrue and she only placed unsworn and unsubstantiated assertions before the chancery court in support of this argument. The chancery court was not bound to take these unsworn and unsubstantiated assertions as true in ruling on Appellees' Motion to Dismiss. Simply put, "[c]onclusory allegations or legal conclusions masquerading as factual conclusions will not suffice to defeat a motion to dismiss." *Penn Nat'l Gaming, Inc. v. Ratliff*, 954 So. 2d 427, 431 (Miss. 2007). To the contrary, the District has proven with competent evidence that these assertions are both factually and legally inaccurate.

Specifically, the Mississippi Department of Education requires that to teach in an alternative program in the state of Mississippi a teacher must merely hold a valid teaching license or certificate. (R. 111-113; RE 59-61). Appellant holds a valid teaching license and certificate. *Id.* The Mississippi Department of Education does not require that a teacher

teaching in an alternative program be certified in every subject area that she might teach. *Id.*Without question, Appellant's teaching certification and license meet that requirement and her certification is perfectly sufficient for the position. Therefore, any argument Appellant may make as to the third element fails as a matter of fact and, more importantly for purposes of this appeal, as a matter of law inasmuch as she has failed to show that any genuine issues of material fact exist on this issue.

Appellant also contends that teaching children with behavioral problems is outside her experience level. However, such an argument (which, again, is only supported by unsworn allegations made by Appellant and her counsel) cannot be taken seriously in light of the fact that Appellant, by her own admission, has at least ten years of teaching experience, most if not all of which has been spent teaching at the junior high and high school levels. (R. 008; RE 4). It necessarily follows that she has been required to manage disciplinary and behavioral issues with classrooms full of teenage students for many years. In fact, Appellant has admitted as much in her Petition. She admits that she does have at least "limited" experience teaching students with behavioral problems. (Appellant's Brief at 15). She also admits that the administration had been working with her to improve "classroom control." (Appellant's Brief at 15). It is inherent that "classroom control" problems must stem at least partially from unruly or disruptive students, so Appellant's argument that she has not had substantial experience within a reasonably current period cannot be accurate. Id. Appellant's conclusory, unsubstantiated, and most importantly, self-serving allegation that she has "limited experience teaching students with behavioral problems" is not sufficient to preclude dismissal under M.R.C.P. 12(b)(6) or under M.R.C.P. 56. If such an argument had merit, virtually every assignment of a teacher by any school district in

504799-1

the State of Mississippi to an alternative program would be considered a demotion.⁴ This is not the intent of the EEPL or its procedures, and the EEPL does not provide a procedural due process mechanism for school district employees who are merely unhappy with a reassignment or who would prefer to avoid reassignment.

Appellant further states that the Chancellor was forced to make a decision based solely on the facts set forth in the Appellant's Petition because "the District failed to transcribe a record of [Appellant's] hearing before the School Board." (Appellant's Brief at 16). However, Appellant cannot use the fact that there is no hearing transcript to excuse her failure to present any additional evidence demonstrating her lack of experience in handling students with behavioral problems. The District is not required to produce a transcript for hearings held pursuant to the internal grievance policy, GAE-R, which is the procedural mechanism expressly requested by Appellant and provided by the District. (R. 101-103; RE 49-51). The District provided documentary support for its position, and Appellant had an extended opportunity to do the same. Given that opportunity, she failed to submit any affidavits, not even her own, or any other documents to support her argument that the reassignment was a demotion. Appellant cannot rely on conclusory allegations "masquerading as factual conclusions" to defeat a motion to dismiss or a motion for summary judgment. Ratliff, 954 So. 2d at 431 (addressing 12(b)(6) dismissals); Celotex Corp. v. Catrett, 477 U.S. 317, 323 (1986) (addressing dismissal under Rule 56). Such conclusory, self-serving allegations are insufficient to create an issue of material fact to overcome a motion for summary judgment. Id.

504799-1

⁴ If this Court accepts Appellant's argument in this regard and reverses the judgment of the chancery court, its decision would have a chilling effect in the school districts across this state. Specifically, school districts would effectively be prohibited from ever assigning a teacher to the alternative program *unless* that teacher had previous experience in the alternative program or expressly agreed to the assignment. This would severely hamper school districts' ability to manage and administer their alternative programs, which are mandated by law. Miss. Code Ann. § 37-13-92.

Appellant's reassignment, therefore, was not a demotion. The District clearly offered Appellant a renewal contract that did not change her position as a "teacher" and offered her an increase in salary. Her only dissatisfaction was that she was assigned to teach at the alternative school. She expressed this dissatisfaction with her transfer to the alternative school through the District's generalized grievance procedures. That grievance procedure does not permit appeal to the chancery court. Regardless, Appellant's claims do not and cannot fall under the non-renewal statutes since she was not demoted, and therefore Appellant cannot appeal her transfer to this chancery court or to this Court under the EEPL.⁵

II. Alternatively, the Chancery Court was correct in its determination that even if Appellant's reassignment constitutes a non-renewal that triggers the EEPL, Appellant has waived any rights under the EEPL procedures.

The chancery court properly held that even if the EEPL applies to Ms. Winter's Petition, she has waived her right to pursue an appeal or remedy under the EEPL procedures. Mississippi law defines a waiver as "full knowledge of a right existing, and an intentional surrender or relinquishment of that right." *Taranto Amusement Co., Inc. v. Mitchell Associates, Inc.*, 820 So. 2d 726, 729 (Miss. 2002). In this case, Appellant cannot dispute that she had actual, or at the very least constructive, knowledge of her potential due process rights under the EEPL. She nevertheless voluntarily chose a procedural mechanism other than the EEPL to challenge her transfer and has waived her rights, if any, under the EEPL.

Appellant has essentially argued to the trial court that her ignorance of the law and the requirements of the EEPL should permit her to now retroactively assert a claim under the EEPL and be heard in the chancery court. However, it is a fundamental principle of Mississippi law that ignorance of the law is no excuse. *Womack v. Nobles*, 382 So. 2d 1081, 1083 (Miss. 1980).

⁵ Appellant has requested that this Court reverse the chancery court's Order and hold that she was demoted so that her federal law claims will not be "inhibited" by the state court's holding. See Appellant's Brief at 17. However, the District vigorously contends that such an argument is entirely insufficient to overturn the holding of the chancery court where the chancery court did not abuse its discretion in determining that Appellant did not suffer a demotion.

It is undisputed that Petitioner had the advice of counsel at the time she chose to request a "Level I" grievance hearing rather than pursuing any potential rights she may have had under the EEPL. This fact makes her "ignorance of the rules" argument transparent. Moreover, and even if Appellant had not had the advice of counsel at the time, "all persons are charged with knowledge of the provisions of statutes and must take notice of the procedures adopted by them..."

Womack, 382 So. 2d at 1083 (Miss. 1980)(quoting Tally v. The Board of Supervisors of Smith County, 323 So. 2d 547 (Miss. 1975)).

Interestingly, Petitioner does not and cannot dispute that neither she nor the District ever treated this matter as a non-renewal under the EEPL and that she did not clearly invoke the EEPL until she filed her Notice and Petition seeking review of the District's decision in the chancery court. In fact, Appellant is clear in her appeal that she chose to proceed strictly under the District's grievance policies and procedures. (See Appellant's Brief at 17-19). In the process of doing so, she made absolutely no effort to trigger the procedural due process mechanism of the EEPL. Appellant has not refuted the fact that she never made a written request for information or a hearing under or pursuant to Miss. Code Ann. §§ 37-9-109 and 37-9-111, and that she never made any other reference to the EEPL throughout her grievance proceedings. The fact that Appellant pursued the internal grievance procedure under Board Policy GAE-R is essentially irrelevant. The problem is that she did not proceed under the requirements of the EEPL. She certainly had every right to do both if she had chosen to do so, and was not precluded from simultaneously pursuing the grievance policy and the EEPL procedures.

Appellant essentially contends that by pursuing the procedures set out in the Board's grievance policy, she has impliedly fulfilled the EEPL requirements as well. (Appellant's Brief at 17). She asserts that she "accurately operates from the assumption that the Grievance Policy is consistent with the EEPL." *Id.* However, the due process procedures set out by Board Policy

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